CCASE:

WETMORLAND COAL V. SCOL (MSHA)
DDATE:

19850116

TTEXT:



~112
Federal M ne Safety and Heal th Revi ew Conm ssi on
O fice of Adm nistrative Law Judges
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M NE SAFETY AND HEALTH
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V. A. C. No. 46-01283-03505
A. C. No. 46-01283-03507
WESTMORELAND COAL COVPANY, A. C. No. 46-01283-03519
RESPONDENT

Hanpton No. 3 M ne
DEC!I SI ON

Appear ances: Kevin McCorm ck, Esqg., Ofice of the Solicitor,
U S. Department of Labor, Arlington, Virginia,
for Respondent;

F. Thomas Rubenstein, Esqg., Westnoreland Coal
Conmpany, Big Stone Gap, Virginia, for Contestant.

Bef or e: Judge Fauver

Pursuant to section 105(d) of the Federal M ne Safety and
Heal th Act of 1977, 30 U.S.C. 801, et seq., Westnoreland Coal
Conmpany filed a Notice of Contest seeking review of the
Secretary's Order No. 2141231, which charges a violation of 30
CFR 075.1722(a) at its Hanpton No. 3 Mne on March 1, 1983.
Thereafter, a Petition for Assessment of a Cvil Penalty was
filed by the Secretary seeking a civil penalty for the alleged
vi ol ati on. Those proceedi ngs were consolidated with two ot her
civil penalty proceedi ngs (Docket Nos. WEVA 83A122, 83A123) and
were heard at Charl eston, West Virginia.
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Havi ng considered the testinony, exhibits, and the record as a

whole, | find that a preponderance of the substantial, probative,
and reliable evidence establishes the foll ow ng:

FI NDI NGS OF FACT
Docket Nos. WEVA 83A232, 83A141AR

1. On March 1, 1983, MSHA Inspector Vaughan Gartin inspected
the 6 Left 4 West section of Westnorel and's Hanpton No. 3 M ne.
Gartin observed that the belt tail roller was not guarded so as
to prevent a person fromcontacting the exposed noving parts of
the roller. There was a 17Ai nch, unguarded area between the belt
tail roller and the end of the belt line. Gartin testified that,
al t hough sonmeone wal ki ng past the belt tail roller could cone in
contact with the roller or its nmoving parts, he was nore
concerned with the safety of the mners who were required to
regul arly grease and cl ean the equi pnent. Because of the |ack of
a guard on the tail roller, it was necessary for the maintenance
man to reach right up to the roller with his grease gun and
attach it to one of the grease fittings on each side of the
roller. If any contact were nade with the noving parts of the
roller or belt, a mner could lose an arm leg, or even die as a
result. If a guard had been in place, a grease hose could be
used, renmpving the necessity of conming in such close contact with
the belt tail roller. There was no grease hose on the belt tai
roller when Gartin observed it. A mner cleaning up coal in the
unguarded area coul d accidentally contact the noving parts of the
roller or belt with his shovel. If a guard were in place, it
woul d prevent the worker from having the shovel cone in contact
with the belt or the roller.

2. When Grtin inspected the belt tail roller, the belt was
energi zed and runni ng.

3. Because there was no guard around the belt tail roller
I nspector Gartin issued a section 104(d) (1) order, alleging a
violation of 30 CFR 075.1722(a). He alleged that the violation
was "unwarrant abl e” because he had recently issued a citation for
a simlar condition in another part of the m ne. Upon | earning of
the earlier citation, David Nelson, the Mne Superintendant, told
Gartin that he knew of one ot her unguarded tail pi ece, but that
condi tion would be corrected before Gartin returned to the mne
However, when
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Gartin returned and inspected the 6 Left 4 West section, the belt
tail roller was unguarded.

4. Gartin also alleged that the condition he observed on
March 1, 1983, was "significant and substantial." He testified
that there was a reasonable |likelihood that an injury of a
serious nature could result because of the alleged violation

5. On June 6, 1984, during the hearing, at the request of
t he Judge, Inspector Gartin and nanagenent personnel returned to
Hanpton M ne No. 3 to take neasurenments and phot ographs of a belt
tail roller and coal feeder set-up. The neasurenents and
phot ographs are in evidence, and show how t he structures | ooked
on June 6, 1984. Inspector Gartin testified that the situation he
observed on March 1, 1983, was significantly different in two
i nportant respects. First, concerning photograph No. 1, the
feeder was 37 inches fromthe nmne floor on the day Gartin issued
the order, but in the photograph, the feeder was only 23 inches
fromthe floor. Second, regarding photographs Nos. 2 and 4, the
feeder appears much closer to the tailpiece than it was on the
day the order was witten. On that day, Gartin neasured
approxi mately 28 inches between the coal feeder and the
tail pi ece. The photographs show only an 8Ai nch space between
those structures. Gartin stated that the feeder is not normally
that close to the tail pi ece because the shuttle car often bunps
the feeder when coal is unloaded. None of the neasurenents,
observations or photographs taken on June 6, 1984, caused Gartin
to change his opinion as to a violation and the gravity of the
condi tion he found on March 1, 1983.

6. Anot her MSHA | nspector, Don Ellis, testified at the
hearing. He stated that he was present when Gartin and Nel son
were discussing the citation for leaving a belt tail roller
unguarded on 7 Left section, and renenbered that Nel son, the Mne
Superi ntendant, said that he had an additional tail roller to be
guarded. Ellis was also with Gartin when the subject order was
i ssued. He observed the unguarded belt tail roller, and stated
that a person could easily reach in and becone caught in the
pi nch points of the belt tail roller. He also stated that the
mne floor in the area was danp to wet. Ellis agreed with
I nspector Gartin's opinions as to the serious nature of injuries
that could result fromthe unguarded belt tail roller and stated
that he was aware of two cases in which a mner had | ost an arm
in an accident involving a tail roller
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7. Two of Westnorel and' s enpl oyees also testified at the hearing
concerning the belt tail roller charge. Dave Nel son, the M ne
Superi ntendant, stated that before the issuance of the citation
on February 22, 1983, it was Westnorel and's practice not to
provi de any guard on the belt tail roller when the coal feeder
was |located in a straight line position. According to Nelson, the
feeder provided a sufficient guard for the belt tail roller. He
did not observe the belt tail roller on the day Inspector Gartin
i ssued the subject order and he could not state what the
condi tions were when Gartin observed the belt tail roller on
March 1, 1983. Nel son acknow edged that in the past nminers have
cl eaned and greased the belt tail roller while the belt was
novi ng.

8. The other Westnorel and wi tness, Dennis Dent, an assistant
m ne foreman, testified that although he was wth |Inspector
Gartin when the order was issued, he did not know whether or not
the belt tail roller was equi pped with a grease hose. Nor did
Dent renenber exactly how far the coal feeder was fromthe belt
tail roller. He did not take any measurenents of this distance,
but it was his opinion that the coal feeder provided a sufficient
guard for the belt tail roller. He recognized that the structure
was unguarded if a mner was greasing the roller. Wthout a
grease hose in place, Dent explained that to grease the roller, a
m ner had to kneel and bend underneath the edge of the feeder;
this would place the mner about 6 to 10 inches fromthe belt
itself. Dent had seen miners under the feeder structure around
the belt tail roller greasing and shoveling while the belt Iine
was energi zed.

9. On Novenber 17, 1982, MSHA Inspector Harol d Bai sden
conducted a triple A inspection of Wstnorel and' s Hanpton M ne
No. 3. During his inspection of the 7 Left section face area,
| nspect or Bai sden observed that there was no | ock screw on the
el ectrical panel cover inspection plate on the No. 19 shuttle
car. Upon cl oser exani nation Bai sden found that the plate was so
| oose that it could be rotated by hand. The inspection plate
screws into the panel cover on the shuttle car and i s supposed to
be held tightly in place by a lock screw. The | ock screw prevents
the inspection plate fromrotating | oose fromthe shuttle car
Behi nd the inspection plate and panel cover are the electrica
conponents and contact points of the shuttle car. Wen the
controls of the shuttle are activated, the contact points behind
the inspection plate nove, emtting an arc or a spark. It is
likely that the inspection plate on car No. 19 becane | oose
ei t her because of inproper maintenance or excessive vibration
causing the screwto fall out.
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10. Hanmpton Mne No. 3 liberates |large quantities of nethane,
considered a "hot" or gassy mne, and is subject to section
103(i) spot inspections for nethane. Baisden explained that when
methane is liberated in the magni tude found at Hanpton No. 3
(between 436,000 to 500,000 cubic feet in 24 hours), there is a
high risk of an explosion in having inmperm ssbl e openi ngs of
arcing electrical equipment.

11. Based on his observations of the | oose panel cover
i nspection plate without the required | ock screw, Baisden issued
a section 104(a) citation alleging a violation of 30 CFR O
75.503. Baisden stated that if the inspection plate fell off the
shuttle car and nethane or float coal dust was present in the
area, the exposed electrical contractors in the panel would spark
and coul d cause an explosion or fire.

12. Bai sden found that the condition was "significant and
substantial." He stated that because of the mne's history of
excessi ve nethane |liberation and his own personal observations of
shuttle car inspection plates falling off, it was very likely
that an injury would result fromthis type of violation. In the
event of a mine explosion or fire, up to nine mners working in
the area could be killed or seriously injured.

13. An inperm ssible I evel of methane was not detected
during this inspection, but conditions could change qui ckly,
ei t her because of a sudden change in the mne's ventilation or
because of a sudden |iberation of nethane. Baisden noted that a
shuttle car, because of its ability to travel up to 550 feet, was
the nost |ikely piece of mne equi pnent to tear down a
ventilation curtain. At the time of the inspection the section
was produci ng coal and the shuttle car was energized and in
active use.

14. About 2 weeks later, Inspector Baisden returned to
Hanpton No. 3 Mne. Upon arriving at the 8 R ght section, Baisden
observed that the | ock screw was nissing on the electrical pane
cover inspection plate of the No. 21 shuttle car. Baisden's notes
indicate that this inspection plate, as with the one on the No.
19 shuttle car, could be turned by hand. Baisden stated that this
condition would create the sane type of hazard and possible
injuries as the condition he observed as to No. 19 shuttle car

is
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15. Baisden also inspected the No. 24 shuttle car in the sane 8
Ri ght section of the mne. He found that the headlight on the
shuttle car was not tight to frane. One of the two bolts which
attach the headlight to the car was m ssing and the remaini ng
bolt was so | oose "you could turn it with your fingers." As a
result, the headlight could be noved up and down a quarter to
one-hal f an inch. Al so, a ground wire was not connected to the
frane. A | oose headlight, not properly grounded to a shuttle car,
coul d cause an electrical shock or external sparking. As a result
of this condition, Baisden issued a section 104(a) citation
alleging a violation of 30 CFR 075.503( GAG).

16. According to Inspector Baisden, if the one renaining
bolt, which was already | oose, cane off, the headlight assenbly
woul d fall and break against the side of the shuttle car, |eaving
exposed, hot wires trailing against the car. Any tine the wires
woul d hit the shuttle car, there would be a spark, which could
ignite any met hane or dust in the area. Because of the anount of
met hane |liberated in this mne, exposed, sparking electrica
wires woul d present a high risk of death or serious injury as a
result of an explosion, fire or snoke inhal ation

17. Inspector Baisden also found anot her unsafe condition on
the No. 24 shuttle car. The electrical panel cover on the shuttle
car had an opening in excess of .0005 inch which he measured by
using a feeler gauge. The panel is designed to be
expl osi on- proof. Because there was an opening greater than .0005
inch in the panel, nethane could seep into the area where the
el ectrical contactors arc or spark, with a high risk of a mne
expl osi on. Bai sden also found that this condition, as with the
other electrical permssibility violations alleged in this
docket, was "significant and substantial."

18. One witness, Robert Danron, testified on behalf of
West nor el and. Danron did not travel with Bai sden during his
i nspections; nor did he see any of the shuttle cars involved in
t hese proceedi ngs either before or after the citations were
i ssued. Danron was not in a position to refute any of the
findi ngs or observati ons made by I nspector Bai sden. |nstead,
Danron testified generally as to the conditions of the m ne when
the citations were issued, how certain mning equi pnent operates
and how it would be unlikely that the conditions observed by
Bai sden could lead to any serious accidents. Because shuttle cars
do not have nethane nonitors, an operator could drive into a
pocket of nethane w thout
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prior warning. Danron acknow edged that if a headlight was not
properly grounded to the frane of a shuttle car, and the
headl i ght becane | oose and fell off, arcing and sparki ng woul d be
likely.

Docket No. WEVA 83A123

19. On Decenber 6, 1982, Inspector Dennis Cook observed the
No. 1 South belt idler roller and take-up. He found that the
mechani cal guard which was provided for the belt idler roller and
take-up was partially torn down or conpletely renoved. Al though
there was evidence that roof bolts had been wel ded across the
front of the roller, several of the bolts, which acted as a
guard, had been knocked off by a hamrer or sone other instrumnent.
The screening, intended to guard the tight side of the belt
roller, had al so been taken off and placed up against the rib.
I nspect or Cook believed that the guards, which were lying three
to four feet fromthe take-up roller, were renoved for
mai nt enance or cl eanup work and never repl aced.

20. The belt is threaded over and around the idler roller
which is between 12 and 16 inches in diameter. Normally, fencing
material or wire mesh is placed around the belt idler roller and
take-up to prevent persons fromaccidentally falling into or
reaching into the noving belt or roller "pinch points.” A person
comng in contact with the pinch points of the roller could be
severely injured or killed.

21. Based on his observations that the mechani cal guards on
the energized 1 South belt idler roller and take-up had been
renoved on the back and the side, Inspector Cook recommended (see
Fi ndi ng 29, below) a section 104(a) citation alleging a violation
of 30 CFR [075.1722(b). Cook stated that normally one enpl oyee
wor ks around the belt idler roller, and that this condition could
reasonably lead to a serious injury. If someone did get a linb
caught in the machinery, that person would be unable to
deenergi ze the belt. Even if another person, probably in an
adj acent entry, saw or heard the accident, it would take 15 or 20
mnutes to extricate the injured person fromthe belt idler
roller and transport himto the surface. Based on his opinion of
a reasonabl e |ikelihood of an accident and the seriousness of any
resulting injury, Cook alleged that this violation was
"significant and substantial ."
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22. Cook also alleged that the operator’'s negligence in allow ng
this condition to exist was high. He stated that the area around
the belt idler roller is required to be inspected each production
shift by a certified mne exam ner, and that the absence of a
mechani cal guard was so obvious that it should have been detected
during such inspection. Also, on the day the citation was issued,
three or four mners were working in the area performng cl ean-up
wor k, along with a managenent representative. Cook believed that
t hese individuals shoul d have seen the renoved guards. The
condition was abated by replacing the guards that were |ying
agai nst the rib.

23. In his inspection on Decenber 6, 1982, Inspector Cook
al so observed float coal dust on top of rock dusted surfaces
around the No. 1 South belt head and at the slope belt tail piece.
The area around the South belt head area was 20 feet wi de and 80
to 100 feet long. The area, which is the main di scharge point for
all the coal that is produced at the mne, was black with dust.
VWen the coal cones off the belt conveyor it is dunped into a
hopper, generating float coal dust. Based on his visua
observations of the dust accumnul ation, Cook estimated that the
float coal dust had been there at |east one shift, possibly
several shifts.

24. The area around the slope belt tail piece was al so
descri bed by I nspector Cook. The width of the entry ranged from
18 to 40 feet, and the height extended from8 to 18 feet. The
dust was bl ack; there was no question in Cook's mnd that it was
coal . According to Cook, the accunul ations around the sl ope belt
tail piece had been there at |east one shift, possibly |onger
Because both areas cited by Cook are required to be inspected on
a shift basis and a mner is stationed in close proximty, Cook
bel i eved that Westnorel and knew or shoul d have known about the
accumul ation of float coal dust in these areas. Based on his
observations of these conditions Cook reconmended a section
104(a) citation alleging a violation of 30 CFR [075. 400.

25. The float coal dust was accumnul ated in an area where
several energized power cables, starter boxes and ot her
el ectrical conmponents were |ocated. This conbination created a
danger ous condition.
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26. On the next day, Decenber 7, 1982, Inspector Cook returned to

Hanpton M ne No. 3. While inspecting the No. 1 South belt starter
box, Cook opened the doors on the box and nmeasured 1/16 of an
inch of float coal dust in the starter box compartnent itself and
saw sone float coal dust on the contactors in the box. He
estimated that it took at | east one week for the coal dust to
accunul ate in the starter box.

27. The starter box is 4 feet long, 24 inches wide and 24 to
36 inches high. Several energized electrical power cables,
carrying up to 480 volts, enter the starter box and energi ze the
belt head. The box contains switches and relays, which regularly
arc and spark when the electrical cycle is interrupted. Fl oat
coal dust was observed on these conponents.

28. Sparks emitted by the contactors would be sufficient to
ignite float coal dust, causing a violent explosion or fire. If a
fire developed fromthe ignition, the heat of the flanes could
further weaken the already poor roof in this area, and possibly
cause a roof fall. The presence of nethane would intensify any
m ne explosion or fire. As stated above, this mine liberates
substantial quantities of methane. Wen Cook observed the
condition, the belt starter box was energized, the belt |ine was
wor ki ng and there were at | east two enployees in the i mediate
area. An accident producing serious injuries would be reasonably
likely. Based on all of these factors, Cook recommended a section
104(a) citation alleging a violation of 30 CFR [075. 500.

29. Because of a prior break in Cook's service as a MSHA
i nspector, and the resulting adm nistrative delays in processing
hi s personnel papers, Cook did not have his "authorized
representative" card with himat the tine of the actua
i nspections in these proceedings. As a result, he did not sign
the citations; instead, another inspector, Harold Bai sden, signed
and confirmed the citations recomended by Cook

30. Two of Westnorel and' s enpl oyees testified at the hearing
regarding these citations. Jackie Roberts, a bin operator
testified generally as to the conditions of the m ne where the
citations were issued, and what type of maintenance is generally
requi red on sone of the equipment in the area. However, Roberts
did not travel with Inspector Cook during his inspection and
coul d not remenber what the conditions were like in the mne when
the citations were issued. Roberts was not in a position to
refute any of the findings or observati ons made by I nspector
Cook. Roberts stated that if the area where the citations were
i ssued was not rock dusted for two or three days, it would get
"awf ul bl ack"™ with coal dust fromthe dunping point. Roberts also
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stated that as a result of poor roof conditions in this area,

t here have been roof fatalities as recent as a year or two ago.
Roberts stated that one of Westnorel and' s enpl oyees, Ral ph Kar as,
| ost an armwhile he was working on a belt line.

31. The other Westnorel and witness on this charge was Robert
Danron. Like with Jackie Roberts, Danron did not have persona
know edge of the conditions cited by inspector Cook. I|Instead, he
testified as to general conditions and practices at the nine
whi ch may or may not have occurred or been foll owed on Decenber
6, 1982: nor did he have an opportunity to observe the float coa
dust accunul ations in the entire belt slope area described by
I nspect or Cook.

32. Westnoreland is a |large operator. Hanpton No. 3 Mne is
a large coal mine. In the 24Anonth period before the order and
citations at issue, Westnoreland paid $35,751 in civil penalties
for 216 violations at Hanpton No. 3 M ne.

DI SCUSSI ON W TH FURTHER FI NDI NGS
Docket Nos. WEVA 83A232 and 83A141AR

I find that Westnorel and violated 30 CFR 075.1722(a) by
failing to provide a guard on the tail roller. The condition
presented a substantial and significant hazard to m ners working
around the tail roller. The violation was al so unwarrantabl e as
alleged in Order No. 2141231, in that the operator knew or should
have known of the violative condition before the Federa
i nspecti on.

Under the Act (section 110(i)) six criteria nust be
considered in assessing a civil penalty. In this case, the
parties have stipulated to four of the six criteria, that is, the
size of the operator (large) and the mine (large), whether the
proposed civil penalties will adversely affect the operator's
ability to continue in business (no), whether the conditions
cited were tinely abated in good faith (yes), and the operator's
conpliance history (216 paid violations anounting to $35, 751 at
Hanpton M ne No. 3).

The other factors are the gravity and negligence, if any,
involved in the violations.

| find that this violation was serious because of the risk
of serious injury to mners who mght have come in contact with
the tail roller because of the absence of a guard. | also find
that the violation was due to negligence of the operator, because
the violation could have been detected and prevented by the
exerci se of reasonable care.
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In considering the statutory criteria for assessing penalties,

find that an appropriate civil penalty for this violation is
$750.

The Secretary's order should be affirnmed.

Docket No. 83A122

I find that Westnorel and violated 30 CFR [075.503 as charged
in Ctations Nos. 2035981, 2035985, and 2035987 by failing to
mai ntain shuttle cars 19 and 21 in permssible condition, because
the inspection plates were | oose and not secured by |ock screws,
and by failing to maintain shuttle car 24 in permssible
condi tion, because the headlight was very | oose and not properly
grounded and there was an inperm ssible opening in the electrica
panel of that car

These violations presented a serious risk of injury, even
deat h, because of hazards of a nethane or float coal dust
expl osion or fire. The violations were due to negligence of the
operator, because they could have been detected and corrected by
t he exercise of reasonabl e care.

In considering the statutory criteria for civil penalties, |
find that appropriate civil penalties for these violations are:
Citation No. 2035981--$276, G tation No. 2035985--$329, and
Citation No. 2035987--$329.

Docket No. WEVA 83A123

I find that Westnorel and violated 30 CFR [075.400 as charged
in Gtations Nos. 2035998 and 2035999.

I nspector Cook testified that he observed fl oat coal dust
accunul ations around the No. 1 South belt head, the sl ope
tail piece and in the energized belt starter box, the dust he
observed was bl ack, and there was no doubt in his mne that it
was float coal dust.

The operator did not offer any persuasive evidence to refute
Cook' s observati ons.

The violations presented a serious risk of injury to mners
because of the danger of float coal dust and possible sources of
ignition in the affected areas.

The viol ations were due to negligence of the operator
because they coul d have been prevented by the exercise of
reasonabl e care.

Considering the criteria for civil penalties, |I find that an
appropriate civil penalty for each violation is $294.
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| find a violation of 30 CFR 075.1722(b) as charged in G tation
2035997. Inspector Cook testified without contradiction that the
guard for the belt idler roller had been renoved and | eft on the
mne floor. He estimated that the guard had been taken off at
| east two, possibly nore, production shifts earlier.

This violation presented a serious risk of injury and was
due to negligence attributable to the operator.

Considering the criteria for civil penalties, |I find that an
appropriate penalty for this violation is $241.

At the hearing | approved settlenment of Citation 2140562 by
assessing a civil penalty of $100 and settlenent of Gtation
2140566 by assessing a civil penalty of $371.

CONCLUSI ONS OF LAW

1. Westnorel and viol ated safety standards as charged in
O der No. 2141231 and in G tations Nos. 2035981, 2035985,
2035987, 2035997, 2035998, and 2035999.

2. Settlenents of Citations Nos. 2140562 and 2140566, as
stated in the Transcript, page 252, are APPROVED.

3. Westnoreland is ASSESSED the civil penalties specified in
the Discussion part of this Decision.

CORDER
WHEREFORE I T IS ORDERED t hat:

1. Westnorel and shall pay the above civil penalties in the
total amount of $2,984 within 30 days of this Decision.

2. Order No. 2141231 is AFFI RMVED.

W1 Iiam Fauver
Admi ni strative Law Judge



